Minutes of the regular monthly meeting of the Planning Commission of the County of Henrico held in the County Administration Building in the Government Center at Parham and Hungary Spring Roads, beginning at 7:00 p.m. September 14, 2017. Display Notice having been published in the *Richmond Times-Dispatch* on August 28, 2017 and September 4, 2017.

5

2

3

Members Present: Mr. Eric S. Leabough, C.P.C., Chair (Varina)

Mr. Robert H. Witte, Jr., Vice Chair (Brookland)

Mr. C. W. Archer, C.P.C. (Fairfield)
Mr. Gregory R. Baka (Tuckahoe)

Mr. R. Joseph Emerson, Jr., AICP, Director of Planning,

Secretary

Mr. Tyrone E. Nelson (Varina)

Board of Supervisors' Representative

Member Absent:

Mrs. Sandra M. Marshall (Three Chopt)

Also Present:

Ms. Jean M. Moore, Assistant Director of Planning Mr. James P. Strauss, PLA, Senior Principal Planner Ms. Leslie A. News, PLA, Senior Principal Planner Ms. Rosemary D. Deemer, AICP, County Planner

Mr. Seth Humphreys, County Planner Mr. Livingston Lewis, County Planner Mr. Anthony Greulich, County Planner Mrs. Lisa Blankinship, County Planner Ms. Erin Puckett. County Planner

Mr. Steven J. Yob, Director of Public Works Mr. John Cejka, Traffic Engineer, Public Works

Ms. Sylvia Ray, Recording Secretary

7

Mr. Tyrone E. Nelson, the Board of Supervisors' representative, abstains on all cases unless otherwise noted.

9 10 11

12

13

Mr. Leabough - We'll call this meeting of the Henrico County Planning Commission to order. This is our September 14th rezoning and PUP meeting. I'd ask that everyone mute or silence your cell phones. And as you do that, please rise with the Commission for the Pledge of Allegiance.

14 15 16

I think we have someone in the audience with the news media. Please raise your hand. Okay, two. May I ask your names, please? Thanks for being here with us.

17 18 19

20

21

Mrs. Marshall could not be with us tonight, but we have a quorum, so we can conduct business. Before we move forward, I just want to thank Rev. Nelson, our Board of Supervisors' representative. Thank you for serving with us this year, sir. With that, I'd like to turn the agenda over to Mr. Emerson, our secretary.

Mr. Emerson - Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The first item on your agenda this evening are the Requests for Withdrawals and Deferrals. Those will be presented by Mr. Jim Strauss.

Mr. Strauss - Thank you, Mr. Secretary. We do have three requests for deferral this evening, and they are all in the Three Chopt District. The first request is on page 5 of your agenda, REZ2017-00010, MS Richmond Investors, LLC and in this case, the applicant is requesting a deferral to the November 9, 2017 meeting.

(Deferred from the July 13, 2017 Meeting)

REZ2017-00010

Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS
Richmond Investors LLC: Request to conditionally rezone from A-1
Agricultural District to R-5AC General Residence District (Conditional) Parcels
744-763-8661, 744-763-9175, 745-763-2013, 745-763-2727, 745-763-3440, 745763-4567, 745-763-5481, 745-763-6093 and 745-764-0618 containing 18.580
acres located between the east line of Belfast Road and the west line of Glasgow
Road at its intersection with Ireland Road. The applicant proposes a zero lot line
development with detached homes. The R-5A District allows a maximum density
of six (6) units per acre. The use will be controlled by zoning ordinance
regulations and proffered conditions. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan
recommends Traditional Neighborhood Development.

Mr. Leabough - Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to the deferral request for REZ2017-00010, Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS Richmond Investors LLC? I see no opposition, Mr. Archer.

Mr. Archer - All right, Mr. Chairman. With that, I will move that REZ2017-00010, Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS Richmond Investors LLC, be deferred to the November 9th meeting at the request of the applicant.

56 Mr. Baka - Second.

Mr. Leabough - We have a motion by Mr. Archer, a second by Mr. Baka. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. Hearing no opposition, that motion passes.

At the request of the applicant, the Planning Commission deferred REZ2017-00010, Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS Richmond Investors LLC, to its meeting on November 9, 2017.

Mr. Strauss - The next request for deferral, also on page 5 of the agenda and also in the Three Chopt District, is REZ2017-00011, MS Richmond Investors LLC. Again, the applicant is requesting a deferral to the November 9, 2017 meeting.

 (Deferred from the July 13, 2017 Meeting)

Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS REZ2017-00011 Richmond Investors LLC: Request to conditionally rezone from A-1 Agricultural District and R-3C One-Family Residence District to R-5AC General Residence District (Conditional) Parcels 744-762-4780, 744-762-5294, 744-762-9757, and 745-762-0472 containing 8.264 acres located between the east line of Belfast Road and the west line of Glasgow Road approximately 155' north of Edinburgh Road. The applicant proposes a zero lot line development with detached homes. The R-5A District allows a maximum density of six (6) units per acre. The use will be controlled by zoning ordinance regulations and proffered conditions. The Comprehensive Plan recommends Traditional Neighborhood Development.

Mr. Leabough - Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to the deferral request for REZ2017-00011, Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS Richmond Investors LLC? I see no opposition, Mr. Archer.

Mr. Archer - Mr. Chairman, I move to defer REZ2017-00011, Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS Richmond Investors LLC, at the request of the applicant, to the November 9th meeting.

Mr. Witte - Second.

Mr. Leabough - We have a motion by Mr. Archer, a second by Mr. Witte. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. Hearing no opposition, that motion passes.

At the request of the applicant, the Planning Commission deferred REZ2017-00011, Adena Patterson or Ann Neil Cosby for MS Richmond Investors LLC, to its meeting on November 9, 2017.

Mr. Strauss - The third request for deferral this evening is on page 5 of the agenda and is also in the Three Chopt District. It is REZ2017-00022, Bacova LLC. In this case, the applicant is requesting deferral to the October 12, 2017 meeting.

**REZ2017-00022** Andrew M. Condlin for Bacova Texas, LLC and Bacova, LLC: Request to amend proffers accepted with REZ2016-00033 on Parcels 736-768-6361, 736-768-5323, and 736-767-2166 containing 23.1 acres located on the east line of N. Gayton Road between Liesfeld Farm Drive and Kain Road. The applicant proposes to amend Proffer 22 regarding N. Gayton Road improvements. The existing zoning is R-5AC General Residence District (Conditional). The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Suburban Mixed-Use, density should not exceed 4 units per acre, and Environmental Protection Area.

116		
117	Mr. Leabough - Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to the	
118	deferral request for REZ2017-00022, Andrew M. Condlin for Bacova Texas, LLC	
119	and Bacova, LLC? I see no opposition, Mr. Archer.	
120		
121	Mr. Archer - All right. Then at the request of the applicant, I move	
122	that REZ2017-00022, Andrew M. Condlin for Bacova Texas, LLC and Bacova,	
123	LLC, be deferred to the October 12th meeting.	
124	,	
125	Mr. Leabough - Second. We have a motion by Mr. Archer, a second	
126	by Mr. Leabough. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. Hearing no	
127	opposition, that motion passes.	
128		
129	At the request of the applicant, the Planning Commission deferred REZ2017-	
130	00022, Andrew M. Condlin for Bacova Texas, LLC and Bacova, LLC, to its	
131	meeting on October 12, 2017.	
132		
133	Mr. Emerson - Mr. Chairman, if the Commission has no deferrals	
134	they'd like to enter in addition to those we're aware of, the next item on your	
135	agenda are the requests for expedited items. They will also be presented by Mr.	
136	Jim Strauss.	
137		
138	Mr. Strauss - Thank you, Mr. Secretary. We do have a few requests	
139	for approval on the expedited agenda this evening. The first is in the Varina	
140	District on page 5 of your agenda. This is PUP2017-00018, Redco Properties,	
141	LLC. This is a request for approval of a Provisional Use Permit to allow extended	
142	hours for the operation of a restaurant. The applicant wishes to open at 5:30 a.m.	
143	instead of 6 a.m. Staff is recommending approval with conditions 1 through 9 in	
144	the staff report. We are not aware of any opposition.	
145		
146	PUP2017-00018 Andrew M. Condlin for Redco Properties, LLC:	
147	Request for a Provisional Use Permit under Sections 24-58.2(a), 24-120, and 24-	
148	122.1 of Chapter 24 of the County Code to allow for extended hours of operation	
149	for a proposed restaurant on part of Parcels 816-711-6950 and 816-711-8151	
150	located on the east side of S. Laburnum Avenue approximately 460' south of its	
151	intersection with Eubank Road. The existing zoning is B-3C Business District	
152	(Conditional). The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Commercial	
153	Concentration.	
154		
155	Mr. Leabough - Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to	
156	PUP2017-00018, Andrew M. Condlin for Redco Properties, LLC? There is no	
157	opposition.	
158	O	
159 160	So, with that, I move that PUP2017-00018, Andrew M. Condlin for Redco Properties, LLC, move forward to the Board of Supervisors with a	

recommendation of approval subject to conditions 1 through 9 as outlined in the 161 staff report. 162 163 Mr. Witte -Second. 164 165 166

167 that motion passes. 168

Mr. Leabough -We have a motion by Mr. Leabough, a second by Mr. Witte. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. Hearing no opposition,

169 170

171

172

**REASON -**Acting on a motion by Mr. Leabough seconded by Mr. Witte, the Planning Commission voted 4-0 (one absent, one abstention) to recommend the Board of Supervisors grant the request because it is reasonable in light of surrounding uses and existing zoning on the property.

173 174 175

176

177

178

The next request for approval on the expedited Mr. Strauss agenda this evening is in the Tuckahoe District. It's on page 6 of your agenda, REZ2017-00020, B. Hunt Gunter. Staff is recommending approval with the 14 proffers on page 8 of the staff report. Again, we're not aware of any opposition.

179 180

181

182

183

184

185

186

(Deferred from the August 10, 2017 Meeting)

REZ2017-00020 Mark Williams for B. Hunt Gunter: Request to conditionally rezone from B-1 Business District to B-2C Business District (Conditional) Parcel 741-742-5027 containing .523 acres located at the northwest intersection of Pump Road and Patterson Avenue (State Route 6). The applicant proposes a drive-thru restaurant. The use will be controlled by proffered conditions and zoning ordinance regulations. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Commercial Concentration and Environmental Protection Area.

187 188 189

Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to Mr. Leabough -REZ2017-00020, Mark Williams for B. Hunt Gunter? There's no opposition, Mr. Baka.

191 192

193

194

190

Mr. Chairman, I would move that case REZ2017-Mr. Baka -00020, Mark Williams for B. Hunt Gunter, move on to the Board of Supervisors with a recommendation of approval with the proffers that have been submitted.

195 196

Mr. Witte -Second. 197

198

We have a motion by Mr. Baka, a second by Mr. Mr. Leabough -199 Witte. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. Hearing no opposition, that 200 motion passes. 201

202 203

204

205

Acting on a motion by Mr. Baka seconded by Mr. **REASON -**Witte, the Planning Commission voted 4-0 (one absent, one abstention) to recommend the Board of Supervisors grant the request because the proffered conditions will provide appropriate quality assurances not otherwise available and continues a form of zoning consistent with the area.

207 208 209

210

211

212

206

Mr. Strauss -Our third request for approval this evening on the expedited agenda is in the Brookland District, page 6 of your agenda. This is REZ2017-00021, Jakhow LLC & JBJ & BJJ, Staff is recommending approval with the two proffers on page 8 of the staff report. We are not aware of any opposition.

213 214 215

216

217

218

219

220

221

REZ2017-00021 S.L. Nusbaum Realty Co. for Jakhow LLC & JBJ & BJJ: Request to conditionally rezone from R-4 One-Family Residence District to B-2C Business District (Conditional) part of Parcel 767-747-8171 containing 1.25 acres located on the west line of Bethlehem Road approximately 650' northwest of its intersection with Glenside Drive. The applicant proposes to add land area to the adjacent shopping center. The uses will be controlled by proffered conditions and zoning ordinance regulations. The 2026 Comprehensive Plan recommends Office.

222 223

Mr. Leabough -Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to 224 REZ2017-00021, S.L. Nusbaum Realty Co. for Jakhow LLC & JBJ & BJJ? 225 There's no opposition, Mr. Witte. 226

227

228 Mr. Witte -Mr. Chairman. I move that REZ2017-00021, S.L. Nusbaum Realty Co. for Jakhow LLC & JBJ & BJJ, move to the Board of 229 Supervisors with a recommendation for approval on the expedited agenda. 230

231

Mr. Baka -Second. 232

233

Mr. Leabough -We have a motion by Mr. Witte, a second by 234 Mr. Baka. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. Hearing no opposition, 235 that motion passes. 236

237 238

239

240 241 **REASON** -Acting on a motion by Mr. Witte, seconded by Mr. Baka, the Planning Commission voted 4-0 (one absent, one abstention) to recommend the Board of Supervisors grant the request because it would assist in achieving the appropriate development of adjoining property and it is reasonable in light of the business zoning in the area.

242 243

245

246

248

251

Mr. Emerson -244 Mr. Chairman, that completes your expedited items this evening, taking you to your first case to be heard. This appears on page 1 of your agenda. You also have an amended agenda in front of you this evening at 247 your seat relating to this case. I would like to note that this is a Plan of Development. Normally these are heard on Wednesday mornings. The reason I'm noting the difference is because zoning cases are primarily heard in the 249 250 evening. Those are recommendations to the Board of Supervisors, with the Board of Supervisors making the final decision. A Plan of Development is

different, as all of you are aware. It is a final decision by the Commission, and the Commission is compelled to approve a Plan of Development as long as it meets all the criteria of the Zoning Ordinance. So I did want to remind you of that and also those of you in the audience that may be interested.

255256257

252

253

254

With that said, Mr. Chairman, the next item on your agenda is POD2017-00431. The staff report will be presented by Mr. Tony Greulich.

258259260

## PLAN OF DEVELOPMENT, MASTER PLAN, SPECIAL EXCEPTION, AND LIGHTING PLAN

261262

POD2017-00431 Project Echo – White Oak Technology Park

Consultants for **Economic** Christopher **Development Authority and Scout Development,** LLC: Request for approval of a plan of development, master plan, special exception, and lighting plan, as required by Chapter 24, Sections 24-106 and 24-2 of the Henrico County Code, to construct a Phase I 1,000,000-square foot data center and three future buildings totaling 1,500,000 square feet, with associated support facilities. The special exception would authorize all buildings to exceed 50 feet in height, up to 100 feet in height. The 328-acre site is located on the northwestern and northeastern corners of the intersection at Technology Boulevard and Portugee Road, on part of parcel 849-704-6939. The zoning is M-2, General Industrial District. County water and sewer. (Varina)

263

Mr. Leabough - Is there anyone in the audience in opposition to POD2017-00431, Project Echo? We have opposition.

266

267 Mr. Baka - Mr. Chairman, if I may?

268269

Mr. Leabough - Sure.

270271

272

273

274

275

278

Mr. Baka - A brief comment, sir. Mr. Chairman, although I do not have a personal interest in this case, I'm going to recuse myself from participating in this case, POPD2017-00431, to avoid the appearance of a conflict. I would ask that the clerk record my recusal and my abstention from the vote in the minutes of this meeting.

276277

Mr. Leabough - All right, thank you for noting that. We have opposition. Before we ask that folks come up to speak, I will ask Mr. Emerson to

share our guidelines for speaking at a public hearing. Mr. Greulich. Good evening, sir.

Mr. Greulich - Good evening.

For those not familiar with the project, I wanted to identify its location in relation to the overall area. The bounds of the proposed project are shown in yellow. The bounds of the overall White Oak Technology Park are shown in orange. The proposed development is in the middle of the park, surrounded by other properties within the park.

The park is owned and managed by the Henrico County Economic Development authority in conjunction with the State of Virginia. The overall park encompasses approximately 2,200 acres of land formerly known as the Elko Tract. The M-2 General Industrial zoning of the subject parcel has been in place since 1960.

To aid in the development of an attractive and well-designed park, covenants and restrictions creating the White Oak Technology Park Design Review Board (DRB) were recorded in September of 1996. These covenants include specific design criteria and also a section called Design Guidelines. Accordingly, the proposed development is subject to review and approval by this DRB.

This plan of development and master plan is for the construction of a data center within the park. Phase 1, located at the northwest corner of the intersection of Portugee Road and Technology Boulevard, proposes two 1-story connected buildings with mechanical penthouses. It is approximately 1,000,000 square feet in total, with associated support facilities.

The master plan proposes additional buildings up to 1.5 million square feet and additional associated support facilities with those. The applicant has also requested that a special exception for height be granted by the Planning Commission.

The total parcel of the proposed development is approximately 328 acres, and this will accommodate all phases of development. The relative sizes of the buildings within the park are depicted. The proposed buildings have the same approximate, footprint as existing ones around it.

Through proposed conditions of the POD approval, trucks from this facility are prohibited to access Elko Road. The developer will limit all of their construction and tractor trailer traffic to flow from Portugee Road to Technology Boulevard.

Through another proposed condition of the POD approval, the applicant is required to provide a number for citizens to call if they wish to comment on the proposed development.

This plan depicts the potential build-out of the master plan, including five data center buildings and various support structures and areas. Of note is that the limits of disturbance on either side of Technology Boulevard is designed to minimize impact on the existing wetlands and floodplain. Approximately a third of the overall site is environmentally sensitive area that will be left undisturbed.

Main access to both sites will be from Technology Boulevard. With the development of Phase I, a secondary entrance from Portugee Road will be constructed.

Two types of fencing are proposed. Type 1 is a black, decorative fence, approximately 8 to 10 feet in height, seen elsewhere within the Park. The Type 2 fence is more industrial in appearance, also black in color, and approximately 10 feet in height.

From a County zoning perspective, the proposed site is internal to the park; therefore, transitional buffers are not required. The required setbacks are less than the buffers required by the covenants of the park and are exceeded. There is a vegetative buffer around the site that is a minimum of 50 feet in width, except for the construction of entrance driveways, utility connections, and drainage structures. Most of the vegetative buffer against right-of-way exceeds 100 feet, with the buffer against Portugee Road routinely exceeding 600 feet.

When Buildings 1 and 2 are operational, the applicant anticipates that there will be approximately 100 employees and contractors and approximately two truck trips per day. When the full build-out is operational, the applicant anticipates that there will be approximately 240 employees and contractors and approximately six truck trips per day for the whole development.

This depicts the structures to be built with Phase I. The main entrance to the facility is from Technology Boulevard and will be controlled by a manned guard house and gate system. Pedestrian access to the facility is via a pedestrian gate in this area. The proposed fencing is largely hidden from view by the existing vegetative buffers that are to remain. A secondary entrance is proposed to access Portugee Road. It will also contain a manned guard house. Both guard houses will be of a similar appearance.

Approximately one quarter of the site is protected wetlands and other environmentally sensitive property. Therefore, all county and state environmental protection requirements will be met regarding stormwater management.

This provides an idea of the appearance of Buildings 1 and 2. The top image is facing Technology Boulevard and their gate house. This is a more detailed image of the entrance to the connector structure between Buildings 1 and 2. The majority of employees and contractors for the development will likely be located within this area.

These are additional perspectives.

The exterior of the buildings will be comprised of precast concrete panels, fiber cement panels, ribbed and smooth architectural metal panels, metal louvers and glass curtain wall glazing. The color palette will predominantly consist of grey tones with a slate brown brise soleil (sun shading) in front of the curtain wall.

Future buildings would generally appear to be consistent with the buildings proposed with Phase I.

This is the proposed floor plan. Over half of each building will be data halls. The bulk of the administrative and office space is within the connector building between the two buildings.

This is the proposed building section. What might appear to be a second floor is actually a mechanical unit penthouse.

The site is zoned M-2 and the Zoning Ordinance allows for heights up to 50 feet by right, up to 110 feet with a special exception, and up to 200 feet in height with a Provisional Use Permit authorized by the Board of Supervisors. The applicant has requested a maximum height of up to 100 feet. This can be authorized by the Planning Commission as a special exception. The requested height is less than what could be approved by the Planning Commission or the Board of Supervisors. The applicant has advised that it is critical to their business model to have the flexibility to construct taller buildings.

Both sites, particularly the future location of Buildings 5 and 6, are constrained by wetlands and environmentally sensitive areas. Additional height could provide more flexibility to continue to avoid these site constraints.

The provided sightlines illustrate if a 100 foot building would be visible from these three different locations along Portugee Road as indicated with the red triangles. A small portion of the top of a building can be seen in red on the three perspectives.

The nearest residential properties are in the Cedar Ridge subdivision to the east. The applicant provided an additional perspective from within this subdivision, near the intersection of Portugee and Elko Roads and this showed that no part of the building would be visible from this intersection. The boundary of this subdivision is approximately 1,800 feet from the nearest building proposed with this development.

It is appropriate to note that this buffer, and the buffer along Portugee Road, are largely comprised of wetlands and other environmentally sensitive areas that will not be disturbed.

Regardless of the height of the buildings, the square footage of the buildings will not increase. A taller building may translate to a smaller building footprint.

The Park is not within the Airport Safety Overlay District; therefore, these buildings do not require additional review by the airport or the FAA.

Other buildings within the Park, including some on Technology Boulevard, have requested and received similar height exceptions from the Planning Commission and from the DRB.

All proposed lighting within the facility will be a maximum of 25 feet in height, have LED fixtures, and conform to Dark Sky-compliant requirements. The photometric counts are all within County and DRB guidelines for light levels.

Proposed lighting will be of similar appearance as the EF 1 design in your packet. The variations include multiple heads and shorter pole heights. Additionally, wall mounted, Dark Sky compliant, LED fixtures will be proposed within the equipment yards. The proposed pole lighting along the west side of Technology Boulevard will match the existing lighting along the boulevard in terms of appearance, fixtures, and spacing. These lights are 30 feet in height and function as typical street lights. Lighting along Portugee Road is not required.

Staff has received comments from four citizens who live in this area. Staff has replied to all comments and no additional requests for information have been received. One common theme was associating the volume of traffic proposed with this development with the traffic generated by truck dependent facilities in the area. The facility proposed today is not a warehouse or a distribution center and once operational will not generate the traffic volume of those uses. The traffic enforcement related comments have been passed to the Community Officer for the area.

Before I conclude, I wanted to touch on some general aspects of the process. The proposed use and development of the property meet all aspects of the Zoning Ordinance. The Planning Commission and staff review the proposed plans to ensure that they meet the requirements of the Code and County design policies. This is done with an eye towards improving the design of the site as much as possible in response to individual site, and quality, development considerations.

The DRB has also reviewed the plans for conformance with the private park design guidelines. They have granted preliminary plan approval.

With that said, should the Planning Commission grant approval for the Special Exception for height, staff recommends approval of the plans, subject to the

462 463 464	and the additional conditions as listed in the agenda.		
465 466	County staff are here and available to answer any questions. Representatives of the applicant are also present and available.		
467 468 469	Thank you.		
470 471 472	Mr. Leabough - Mr. Greulich from the Com	Thank you, Mr. Greulich. Are there any questions for mission? Okay. Thank you, sir.	
473 474 475 476	Mr. Archer - height of this building con the development?	I do have one question. Mr. Greulich, how does the npare to the height of the tallest building in the rest of	
477 478 479	Mr. Greulich - at 75 feet, and the applica	The tallest building in the development was approved nt is requesting 100.	
480 481	Mr. Archer -	I understand. Thank you.	
482 483 484	Mr. Emerson - Correct, Mr. Greulich?	But we do have exceptions up to 100 feet in the park.	
485 486	Mr. Greulich -	Within the park?	
487 488	Mr. Emerson -	Yes.	
489 490 491	Mr. Greulich - There are higher heights e	No. The only one that was granted was up to 75. elsewhere in the County.	
492 493	Mr. Leabough -	Any other questions for Mr. Greulich? Thank you, sir.	
494 495	Mr. Greulich -	Sure.	
496 497	Mr. Leabough -	Don't go far. I'm sure we'll have other questions.	
498 499 500	Mr. Leabough - sharing with folks in the au	Mr. Emerson, we have opposition. Do you mind udience our guidelines, please, sir?	
501 502 503 504 505 506 507	applicant is allowed ten reserved for responses t minutes to present its cond limits. The Commission n	Yes sir, Mr. Chairman. As you note, the Commission arding its public hearings and they are as follows: The minutes to present the request, and time may be o testimony. Opposition is allowed a cumulative tencerns. Commission questions do not count into the time may waive the limits for either party at its discretion. Again for the	

opposition, that's a cumulative ten minutes, which means everybody that wishes to speak in opposition must fit within the ten minutes unless the Commission grants an exception.

Mr. Leabough - Thank you, sir. Folks that have questions or are here in opposition, would you please come to the podium and state your name for the record?

Mr. Davis - Mark Davis. I live at 6425 Elko Road. I'm not in opposition to the project per se. Since it's a POD, that wouldn't really matter a whole lot. But I am opposed to granting an exception to the height requirement, especially for construction that's not planned. I understand the business is asking that for server farm technology that may change down the road. But my concern is that we're granting an exception for an economic factor. At least that's what I would view it as. They're simply asking for the fact that they wanted to be able to put a higher building to increase their density of their server farm. I haven't heard anything else that this would present them an economic hardship if they were required to build to the existing code. That was not in the staff report that I saw any reference to why they specifically wanted this, other than they think technology will change down the road.

Well, I did my own homework. Microsoft has a wonderful white page on where they built their server farm underwater. That's their recommendation for what's considered energy consumption, which is a driving factor behind server farm construction. Google had a nice white page. Unfortunately, I don't think our applicant's going to be able to put the pretty murals on the sides of their buildings like Google did out west. They had some really pretty 50-foot murals they had painted all over their building.

So my opposition is not to the project itself. I think it's a good fit for the technology. It is a technology driven industry. My concern is that we have no idea when this applicant plans to build this project, whether it's 5 years from now or 25 years from now. I would assume it would be sooner as long as their business model works out. But you're granting a special exception for them to begin theoretical construction on something. In 20 years, none of you all probably will be sitting here. I probably may or may not be here. My thing of it is, at the time they want to begin construction is when they should ask for this exception. At that point, the residents, the Henrico County citizens, and the government people that are in the bodies at that time should be authorized to grant that exception.

I will also reiterate the staff report given by Tony was good in its nature. But it's lacking to me as a resident, as I've spoken before, three critical pieces of information. There is no groundwater impact to this. As I've mentioned before, all of the surrounding properties, except for a couple on Elko Road, which includes myself, happen to be on County water. All of the other residents are on groundwater, meaning that they are relying upon their wells to provide their

drinking water, etcetera. There is no impact study in the current process that addresses that issue. You're talking about another million-plus square feet of impervious surface being in this technology park.

You take that along with all the other projects that have occurred over the last five years, and you cannot tell me—I'm an environmental engineer by trade, 30plus years of experience—that this will not impact to some degree the groundwater recharge of the aquifer in this area. Currently, there are no studies. There are no current studies by the County. There are no studies by the state or the EPA to document where the aquifer is recharged from, it's direction of flow. We all assume because we're next to the river or next to Chickahominy Swamp that this will—and White Oak's swamp—that this will continue to recharge people's well water. As we know from a previous project and road construction on Elko Road, one of my neighbors ended up with water being discolored and issues with his well. Whether or not this will continue to mitigate and happen to other residents, we don't know. But without the County taking a proactive approach to this issue, I'd hate for you five years from now have half of the residents' wells go belly up and all of a sudden be demanding that the County run water out to these facilities because there is no groundwater for them to drink from.

There is also no noise study. I know that you all are probably tired of hearing that. I know Rev. Nelson over there is tired of hearing from me. But it should be part of the process. Lots of other municipalities require groundwater and noise abatement studies. This facility, assuming that they're going to use traditional cooling methods—chillers, cooling towers—is going to generate a fair amount of noise. Now I'm assuming they'll be behind parapet walls, hopefully with enough vegetative screening that residents who are on the Portugee side wouldn't be affected.

But I live all the way on Elko Road. The closest facility to me, if you take a pencil and draw straight across, is almost 900 feet. I can hear the trucks backing up and their backup alarms. Nine hundred feet away. So I'm just telling you that noise travels further than we think. And without scientific evaluation of that, we can't measure the impact to the residents.

And my question was—there was a wonderful picture of vegetation. Do we have a winter picture in which all those trees, which look to be not evergreens, lose their leaves? If you drive down Elko Road today—by the existing facility that we won't talk about—in the winter, you have a beautiful view of 108 loading dock bays because all of those trees lose their leaves. So it's a wonderful picture, but it doesn't, to me as a resident show, what it's truly going to look like in the winter when all of those trees lose their vegetation. Unless they're planning to replace all of them and they're all evergreens, then mostly likely you will see the building through that vegetation.

D	600 601	9	good neighbors to us, but I think there is a reason for at 50 feet plus some variances for the parapet.	
	602	0		
	603	I do have a question for T	ony. The only exception that I'm aware of that's at 75	
	604	·	America building. No? Who was that?	
	605		T	
	606	Mr. Greulich -	That was for the Qimonda site that's QTS.	
	607			
	608	Mr. Davis -	Okay. Bank of America requested the same variance.	
	609		That was for them to put infrastructure on top of the	
	610	9	ers that are located right there in the Technology Park.	
	611	That was the only one I wa	as aware of.	
	612			
	613	I don't have any other que	stions. Does the Board have questions for me? Again,	
	614	Tony was very helpful. Ev	verybody I spoke to was very helpful. As always, the	
	615	County is very professional	I in how it approaches these things.	
	616			
	617	Mr. Leabough -	Thank you, sir.	
	618			
	619	Mr. Davis -	All right.	
	620			
	621	Mr. Leabough -	Is there anyone else that would like to speak in	
-	622	opposition? We have about	·	
~	623			
	624	Ms. Walker -	My name is Kathy Walker. I live at 201 Riva Ridge	
	625		r at Portugee and Red Coach. I'm in the Cedar Ridge	
	626	subdivision.		
	627			
	628	. ,	t. I think it's going to be very good for the area. I am	
against the Phase 2 height that they want on these buildings. Like				
	630		asset to the area since it is technology but I just don't	
	631	agree with the height of the	e building.	
	632			
	633	And there is a pond and everything, and I'm worried about the wetlands. I'm on a		
	634	well system, and I'm worried about that in the future. Some people in the		
	635		ng to be able to afford the expense of putting in County	
	636	,	nat; some might. That's my concern. Like I said, I'm not	
	637			
	the wetlands are protected and everything. That's one of my concerns,		ed and everything. That's one of my concerns, too,	
	639	because there are a lot of	animals and eagles and stuff up in the woods there.	
	640			
	641	That's all I have to say.		
	642			
	643	Mr. Leabough -	Thank you, ma'am. Is there anyone else in the	
D.	644	audience that would like	to speak in opposition? There are about two minutes	
-	645		plicant please come forward?	

647 Mr. Campbell - Good evening.

649 Mr. Leabough - Good evening, sir.

Mr. Campbell - My name is Dan Campbell. I'm an attorney with
Hunton & Williams. I'm representing the applicant. I also have with me some of
the technical folks here—that can answer any technical questions you might
have—from Christopher Consultants, as well as the architect.

Mr. Leabough - I think we heard a number of technical questions about groundwater, the vegetation, and wetlands, and noise. If you could have someone come up and speak to those items, that would be great.

Mr. Campbell - Sure.

Mr. Kitchen - Good evening, Mr. Chairman. My name is Mike Kitchen, and I'm with Christopher Consultants, the engineer for the applicant. I would be happy to respond regarding the comments that were made. I know the primary one that was made was in regards to the building height. I know there are some issues in regards to the proposed increase to 100 feet. It should be noted that we do have a maximum square footage that is being proposed for the development of 2-1/2 million square feet. Any increase in the building height that we can get above the 50 feet actually allows a commensurate reduction in the footprints of the buildings that we have here. And there would be a reduction in the asphalt that's associated with the buildings as well. If technology allows, it would allow us to decrease the proposed disturbance within the future areas of the development. It would be our hope that that would be a positive from the environmental aspects of things.

In regards to the vegetation, I can't say that we've done any sort of detailed analysis of what is in there in terms of deciduous versus evergreen. That's something that we could look into further if there would be some benefit found to just show what that's going to be. As it stands right now, the sections that we show do not take that into account.

And there were comments in regard to the groundwater study, as well as the noise study. I can say at this time that neither one of those have been performed, as it wasn't a requirement for the POD. We'd be willing to speak with staff in regards to how to respond to that, if you have thoughts in regards to that, or more information potentially from our architect in regards to how noise is addressed with the facility.

Mr. Leabough - Mr. Yob is in the audience. Maybe he could speak from the County's perspective how the groundwater could be handled.

Mr. Yob - Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission. The applicant in this case is using what we call the energy balance on their surface water. Energy balance means they're not allowing any discharge above—in fact, there's an improvement factor. So they're actually reducing the discharge from their impervious area from what's there today. So by virtue of infiltration and reduction in the amount discharged at one time, they're going to discharge less stormwater after the site is developed than what is done today. That results in a net increase in groundwater, and it also helps to keep those wetlands replenished.

I would also point out—and you can see it on the map here—these areas here are all what we call resource protection areas, which you're familiar with. What that means is that there's a 100-foot buffer on all of those wetlands that's maintained in native vegetation, which will both act as screening and further help the environmental situation out there.

I would like to add as well that the applicant has largely avoided the wetlands on site, and designed their property around those wetlands, and done, in my view, a very commendable job of not disturbing any more than they absolutely had to.

The groundwater in this area, there are actually two aquifers. There's a shallow aquifer and a deep aquifer. The deep aquifer is a much larger regional aquifer. It would not be impacted at all by this. The shallow aquifer is one that is a seasonal aquifer. Not many people have wells. Again, the shallow aquifer would continue to be replenished through the practices they're using on this site.

I hope that helps answers your questions, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Leabough - Yes it does. Are there any questions for Mr. Yob from the Commission? Thank you, sir. Just one quick question for the applicant. Could you speak to the building height and why that exception has been requested, please?

Mr. Campbell - The building height has been requested frankly, for a couple of different reasons. The height could afford technological advances in the future, the ability to house the equipment in the way it's housed. And then also the increase in height, I think has been expressed a couple of times tonight, if the height goes up, our total square footage, our footprint, is going to go down. It would enable the applicant to stay away from these wetland areas, the RPAs as well, and allow it to manage the site and the development of the site much better with a little bit of height.

Mr. Leabough - For the record, please state your name again.

Mr. Campbell - Dan Campbell.

738 Mr. Leabough - Thank you, sir. Any questions for Mr. Campbell from the Commission?

Mr. Nelson - I don't have a question for Mr. Campbell; I have a question for Mr. Emerson. Up to this point, the applicant has done I guess what they needed to do to get us to the point where we are?

Mr. Emerson - Yes sir.

 Mr. Nelson: There are further conversations about some of these challenging—but not even challenging, but some of these areas that may be of concern as we move forward. I'm assuming to this point we've done what we've needed to do to inform them of what they need to do regarding what they've needed to do to this point. There will be room for further discussion as we move forward in this process.

Mr. Emerson - Yes sir, I think we could continue to discuss some of these items. However, they have satisfied the County code, and they've satisfied the state codes, to my knowledge; therefore, you have a recommendation to the Commission from staff of approval of this plan of development. As I stated earlier, if they've met all the codes, which they have, then the Commission is compelled to approve.

Mr. Nelson: So this comes to the Board of Supervisors?

Mr. Emerson - This does not come to the Board of Supervisors. This is a use by right. The exception for height is an area of discretion; however, staff supports that exception for height. We have provided exceptions for height in the park. We don't feel that the increase in height will have an impact on the surrounding properties. We do feel that it may create the ability to shrink the footprint, which I think does address many of the concerns the citizens have raised tonight. If you shrink the footprint, you increase the pervious area versus decreasing the pervious area. So concerns regarding the environmental aspects of the site and groundwater table should be lessened instead of increased by allowing an increase in height. So staff does support this application.

Mr. Nelson: Okay. All right. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Witte - I have a question for Mr. Emerson also. And correct me if I'm wrong. In recent years, I believe we have made height exceptions in Innsbrook and I believe Libbie Mill.

780 Mr. Emerson - Yes sir, we have. We've made height exceptions throughout the County.

Mr. Witte - I know of no consequences to the citizens from those.

Mr. Emerson - No sir. We're always very careful to protect the viewsheds and site aspects from the citizens' perspectives of the adjacent properties. I would also note that this property has been industrially zoned since the very early 1960s. It was in state ownership prior to that and has had industrial types of uses on it since World War II. So it has been known that this property has been used and is planned to be used for this type of purpose for the last 60+ years.

Mr. Nelson: When you're talking about height, we're talking about two different situations. The Innsbrook piece is completely different from a taller building in White Oak.

Mr. Witte - Oh, I agree. I think we went to 175 feet in Libbie Mill.

Mr. Nelson: It's not coming to the Board. I'm excited about this project. So whatever it is that we need to do, we need to hear our citizens and make sure that we are doing everything that we need to do to make sure that we are not impacting to a greater level the life of our citizens. But I also think this is not something we want to be hitting the brakes on. If there's something that we can do to make sure that we're looking at groundwater and all those things.

Mr. Witte - I agree. I think this will be a big win for not only the Varina District, but also the whole County. I just think it's in the right spot. It's definitely a good project.

Mr. Leabough - Are there any other questions from the Commission?

Mr. Archer - I have a question, Mr. Chairman. If the applicant could come back up, please, Mr. Campbell.

Mr. Campbell - Yes.

Mr. Archer - The two main issues that I wrote down that came from the citizens had to do with height of the building and visibility caused by deciduous trees instead of evergreen. So my question is, could this be a viable plan if the height were somewhat less than 100 feet? More than 50, but less than 100? And is there a way to assist with the visibility of the building by planting something that would offer some degree of help in that area?

Mr. Campbell - As Mr. Kitchen mentioned before, the evaluation of the site and the trees that are out there is still ongoing. This really is kind of step 1. There will be building plans and more technical aspects that are developed over time. At this point, the applicant, as part of its POD, has asked for the height exception in order to afford the flexibility that may be necessary during the course of the phased build-out here to deal with not only the technical realities of a data

830 831 832 833 834 835	center, but also with the idea of continuing to reduce the footprint again, as others have stated, our square footage, our density isn't changing here. But given all of the wetland areas and RPA areas, we're very sensitive about the potential impacts there and the need, potentially, to have to go vertical in order to address those. At this point in time, we're not able to give you any other number.	
836 837	Mr. Archer -	Okay. All right.
838 839 840	Mr. Leabough - think we've heard your cor	Any other questions from the Commission? All right. I mments.
841 842	Mr. Davis -	I have a follow-up question, if that's okay, sir.
843 844 845	Mr. Leabough - been discussed?	Is it something that relates to something that's already
846 847	Mr. Davis -	No.
848 849	Mr. Leabough -	Okay, go ahead. Thirty seconds, Mr. Davis.
850 851	Mr. Davis -	Thank you.
852 853	Mr. Nelson:	We know that's not possible; give him a minute.
854 855 856	Mr. Davis - based upon a 50-foot elev	Sure it is. The current drawing up on the thing, is that ation for the two additional or 100 feet?
857 858	Mr. Leabough -	Say that again. I'm sorry.
859 860 861 862 863		The two additional phases that they're asking about otion, the drawings that we're looking at, the footprint day up on the screen, is that based upon a 50-foot vation?
864 865 866	Mr. Emerson - 100 feet.	The sight line examples you saw were based on the
867 868 869 870		So this one and this one are based upon the—screen is the footprint that they will build to regardless special exception. Is that what I'm hearing?
871 872	Mr. Emerson -	The applicant may want to address that.
873 874	Mr. Kitchen -	I can explain that.
875	Mr. Davis -	Okay, thank you.

Mr. Kitchen - Thank you. Once again, Mike Kitchen with Christopher Consultants. These buildings that you see here are based upon a 50-foot building height. So the square footage that you see here is 2-1/2 million square feet total, assuming a 50-foot building height. If that building height goes up, these footprints shrink. The disturbed area, the asphalt, is reduced.

Mr. Davis - I know you want me to come up there.

885 Mr. Leabough - Mr. Davis, no-

887 Mr. Davis - My question is how much—

Mr. Leabough - Mr. Davis—

891 Mr. Davis - Sorry.

893 Mr. Leabough - No, we're done.

Mr. Davis - Okay.

Mr. Leabough - The footprint shrinks. He answered that question. We just can't keep going back and forth. We've given you plenty of time to share your comments. If you have additional questions, staff would be happy to address those with you after the hearing and ongoing, depending upon how this case is decided.

Are there any other questions from the Commission? Okay. All right. So again, we heard from staff that this case meets the technical requirements of the Zoning Ordinance and also the park guidelines. It's been reviewed a number of times. I think we're at a point—we hear concerns, which we always want to hear concerns from the community, but at the end of the day, we are obligated to move this case forward because it meets all the requirements. Not that this discussion ends at this point. We'd be happy to have Mr. Davis or Ms. Walker to continue to be in contact with County staff as well as the applicant to address any concerns that you have regarding the project.

With that, I think we need to move forward with approving this project, this POD, the master plan, special exception and the lighting plan. So I move approval of PQD2017-00431, Project Echo, Christopher Consultants for Economic Development Authority and Scout Development, LLC, subject to standard conditions for developments of this type, any annotations on the plans, and conditions 11B and 29 through 34 as noted in the staff report.

Mr. Witte - Second.

- 922 Mr. Leabough Again, I want to note that Mr. Baka abstains from 923 voting on this case. We have a motion by Mr. Leabough, and second by Mr. 924 Witte. All in favor say aye. Those opposed say no. We have one abstention. That 925 motion passes.
- 926 927 The vote was as follows:

934935

936

937

938 939

940

941

942

943

944

950

951

952

953

954

955

956

929 Mr. Archer - Yes 930 Mr. Baka - Abstain 931 Mr. Leabough - Yes 932 Mrs. Marshall - Absent 933 Mr. Witte - Yes

The Planning Commission approved POD2017-00431, Project Echo including the master plan, special exception, and lighting plan, subject to the annotations on the plans, the standard conditions attached to these minutes for developments of this type, and the following additional conditions:

- 11B. Prior to the approval of an electrical permit application and installation of the site lighting equipment, a plan including light spread and intensity diagrams, and fixture specifications and mounting heights details shall be revised as annotated on the staff plan and included with the construction plans for final signature.
- The right-of-way for widening of Portugee Road as shown on approved plans shall be dedicated to the County prior to any occupancy permits being issued. The right-of-way dedication plat and any other required information shall be submitted to the County Real Property Agent at least sixty (60) days prior to requesting occupancy permits.
  - 30. Details for the gate and locking device at all guardhouses shall be submitted for review by the Traffic Engineer, Police and approved by the County Fire Marshal. The owner or owner's contractor shall contact the County Fire Marshal prior to completion of the fence installation to test and inspect the operations of the gates. Evidence of the Fire Marshal's approval shall be provided to the Department of Planning by the owner prior to issuance of occupancy permits.
- In order to maintain the effectiveness of the County's public safety radio 31. 957 communications system within buildings, the owner will install radio 958 equipment that will allow for adequate radio coverage within the building, 959 unless waived by the Director of Planning. Compliance with the County's 960 emergency communication system shall be certified to the County by a 961 communications consultant within ninety (90) days of obtaining a 962 certificate of occupancy. The County will be permitted to perform 963 communications testing in the building at anytime. 964
- Evidence that an engineer has certified the height of the building shall be provided to the Director of Planning prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.

- A construction staging plan which includes details for traffic control, fire protection, stockpile locations, construction fencing and hours of construction shall be submitted for County review and prior to the approval of any final construction plans.
- 972 34. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the developer must furnish a letter from Dominion Virginia Power stating that this proposed development does not conflict with their facilities.
  - 35. Approval of the construction plans by the Department of Public Works does not establish the curb and gutter elevations along the Henrico County maintained right-of-way. The elevations will be set by Henrico County.
  - 36. The owners shall not begin clearing of the site until the following conditions have been met:
    - (a) The site engineer shall conspicuously illustrate on the plan of development or subdivision construction plan and the Erosion and Sediment Control Plan, the limits of the areas to be cleared and the methods of protecting the required buffer areas. The location of utility lines, drainage structures and easements shall be shown.
    - (b) After the Erosion and Sediment Control Plan has been approved but prior to any clearing or grading operations of the site, the owner shall have the limits of clearing delineated with approved methods such as flagging, silt fencing or temporary fencing.
    - (c) The site engineer shall certify in writing to the owner that the limits of clearing have been staked in accordance with the approved plans. A copy of this letter shall be sent to the Department of Planning and the Department of Public Works.
    - (d) The owner shall be responsible for the protection of the buffer areas and for replanting and/or supplemental planting and other necessary improvements to the buffer as may be appropriate or required to correct problems. The details shall be included on the landscape plans for approval.
  - 37. The conceptual master plan, as submitted with this application, is for planning and information purposes only. All subsequent detailed plans of development and construction needed to implement this conceptual plan may be administratively reviewed and approved and shall be subject to all regulations in effect at the time such subsequent plans are submitted for review/ approval.
  - 38. The location of all existing and proposed utility and mechanical equipment (including HVAC units, electric meters, junction and accessory boxes, transformers, and generators) shall be identified on the landscape plans. All equipment shall be screened by such measures as determined appropriate by the Director of Planning or the Planning Commission at the time of plan approval.
  - 39. No construction traffic shall use Elko Road (State Route 156), Elko Tract Road (State Route 380), Portugee Road west of the construction staging

976

977

978

979

980

981

982

983

984

985

986

987

988

989

990

991

992

993

994

995

996

997

998

999

1000

1001

1002

1003

1004

1005

1006

1007

1008

1009

1010

1011

- area, and Portugee Road east of Technology Boulevard except directly along the project frontage.
- No tractor trailers shall use Elko Road (State Route 156), Elko Tract Road (State Route 380), Portugee Road west of the construction staging area, and Portugee Road east of Technology Boulevard except directly along the project frontage.
- The developer shall provide a telephone number for citizen concerns during any construction activity on site in order to respond to citizen concerns and complaints as expeditiously as possible.
- The development and operations conducted on the property shall comply with the restrictive covenants applicable to White Oak Technology Park.
- The proposed development is subject to final Development Review Board (DRB) approval. Any required changes by the DRB must be reflected in the POD and any subsequent plans.
- The proposed architectural elevations are subject to final approval by the Development Review Board (DRB) and the Director of Planning. Any required changes by the DRB must be reflected in the architectural elevations and any subsequent drawings.

Mr. Emerson - Thank you, Mr. Chairman. You now move on to the next item on your agenda which appears on page 6. This is a discussion item regarding the Glen Allen Comprehensive Plan amendment and code amendment. This top will be presented to you by Mr. Seth Humphreys.

**DISCUSSION ITEM**: The Planning Commission will consider a work session and Public Hearing for the Glen Allen Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Code Amendment on October 12, 2017.

Mr. Humphreys - Good evening, Mr. Chairman, members of the Planning Commission.

As part of your discussion item this evening for setting the date for a work session and public hearing, we wanted to give you an update on the overall project, specifically the results of the website survey and the open house for the Glen Allen Small Area Study.

As we talked about with you at our last work session on the topic we have published a website for the project. This website has been up for a bit over a month now and it's had a little over 500 hits. The average time spent on the site is 3-1/2 minutes, which is good by web standards. It shows people are finding plenty of interesting information to look at. Additionally, approximately one-third of the people entering the site are doing so from outside of the other County pages. This shows that our outreach is working and people aren't just learning about the study by looking at the County's webpage, they're coming in from elsewhere.

The general topics people are talking about when filling out the survey on the website include traffic in general, pedestrian/bike infrastructure, commercial uses including the Dollar General, historic sites and preservation, and the small town and rural character of the area. As of now, the website is doing its job. We've had approximately 40 to 50 people sign up for the electronic mailing list so they'll be notified any time we make a change to the site and any time that we're having an upcoming meeting and do advertisements, that sort of thing.

110T 

The open house was held on August 29th, and we had over 50 attendees, including elected and appointed officials. We held it at the Glen Allen Cultural Arts Center in the middle of the study area. From our exit survey, people had a keen interest in the zoning and future recommended land uses for the area—or in other words, what could happen. We heard repeatedly in the exit survey and verbal comments that people did not want another Dollar General, they wanted to preserve the existing character of the area, which is good, because that is the main goal of the study.

Many people also mentioned pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure. While we heard that, and we'll continue to look at that in this area, the primary purpose of this particular study is to examine the land uses. So we will not be addressing that in this study.

The expansion of the study area to Staples Mill and Woodman Road is also an item we heard from some attendees. This entire corridor, I will note, was examined during the formulation of the study and the study area. The decision to select this particular study area was based on the areas most under threat of future unconditional development, focusing on the largest concentration of character-giving elements, and impacting the least amount of homeowners as possible. The land to the east and west of the study in the Mountain Road corridor is all zoned for residential or agricultural uses, has wider distances between contributing elements, and could create greater impacts on existing homeowners.

The overlay district was perhaps the biggest topic discussed at the open house. But the contents and the extent of the overlay were questioned. We are examining the possibilities for changes to which properties would be included in the overlay district and will report any changes to you in the packet for the next meeting and discuss it with you at the work session you are setting the date for tonight.

We also heard from many people uses that they would like to disallow or allow within the overlay district. We will also be sending you our recommended ordinance for the overlay district in your packet, as well as the other changes.

Overall, we heard largely positive comments on our efforts to protect the character of the area through the recommended actions. We will continue to

communicate with both you and the citizens regarding the details of those recommendations.

This is where we are. We had the initial work session with you and posted the website. We've had our open house, and now this evening we're having our discussion item on setting the date for the October 12th Planning Commission work session and public hearing to go over the adoption of the study and make recommendations for the actions to the Board.

Beyond that, we've tried to get on the schedule for November 14th of the Board of Supervisors' work session and November 28th for the Board of Supervisors' public hearing, at which time they could adopt the plan and adopt the recommendations for Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance amendments.

That's my presentation. I'll be happy to take any questions.

Mr. Emerson - Mr. Chairman, I would like to add, as Mr. Humphreys noted, based on the open house, we will be proposing some changes to the study and the overlay area. We're currently working on that. We hope to get that updated study out to you within the next two weeks.

Mr. Humphreys - With the Planning Commission package.

Mr. Emerson - With the Planning Commission package and also posted to the website. What is the status of the actual overlay ordinance?

Mr. Humphreys - This status of the overlay ordinance is some of the revisions that we made with that have gone to the attorneys, and the attorneys are reviewing them in terms of how we address some of the uses that people wanted to specifically allow or disallow. It's under review by the County attorneys. As soon as I get that back, we'll continue to look at it and send it out to you guys.

Mr. Emerson - I wanted to bring those out to you in discussion of this schedule understanding that that is moving along at a fairly rapid pace without possibly giving you the amount of time you may be comfortable with in reviewing those documents. And also the public themselves.

 You do have an option in regards to these dates. Of course, again, they're just tentative. Seth has put that on another slide that is now in front of you. You could do one of two things and still stay on the dates that we've reserved. You could hold your work session. You could schedule your work session for October 12th. Staff could discuss with you at that time any changes we've made to the recommendations in the study and the overlay. You could hold your public hearing on the 9th. Then the Board could still hold their work session on the 14th based on any recommendations that may come from your public hearing, if you

chose to send it forward. Then of course it would be up to them whether they stuck with the schedule from that point forward based on your recommendations.

Or you could schedule your public hearing on the same evening as your work session, take public input, and defer any action until November 9th. Or if you're comfortable, you could take action on October 12th. But you do have options. And of course the other option is this schedule isn't set in stone. It's just a schedule based on the size of the study and the desires of staff to move this along based on available dates on both your calendar, and the Board's calendar, and meeting state code criteria for advertisement.

I'm looking to you for your thoughts in terms of how you'd like to proceed.

Mr. Witte - Personally, I think it would be beneficial to have the work session so that we can get updated and be aware of the changes prior to having the public hearing. I would recommend that on October 12th we have the work session and do the public hearing on November 9th. I know there is going to be a lot of input once this comes out. I think the citizens deserve the time, as well as we deserve the time to work with it.

Mr. Emerson - Absolutely. One other option you have, of course, is if you pursue that path that Mr. Witte has proposed, you don't have to set a public hearing tonight. You can wait until your work session and decide if you're ready to move forward on November 9th. It may very well be once you review what staff sends to you, and it's been out on the website, and we begin to get input from the citizens that you may request that we go back and work on it some more based on the input you're receiving or the thoughts you may have yourself. So that does give you some flexibility as well because from October 12th, we would have ample time to advertise for the November 9th hearing, if that was your chosen path after your work session.

Mr. Witte - With that in mind, I think that would be the best path. Let's see what we have, and then if we need to set the hearing for November 9th, we can do it. If not, we can continue to work on it. So making that decision at the work session I think would be in the best interest of everybody.

Mr. Leabough - I agree with that.

Mr. Emerson - If that's the consensus, we'll plan on a work session on October 12th. Does 5:30 work for everybody?

1191 Mr. Baka - One question about the time. Do we have just one case on the 7:00 agenda on October 12th?

Mr. Emerson - I believe you may have some cases deferred.

1196	Mr. Baka -	Three deferred tonight. Okay.
1197	Mr. Emerson -	Yes. You had several deferred tonight, and there may
1198 1199	be others as well.	res. Tou had several deferred tonight, and there may
1200	be officis as well.	
1201	Mr. Strauss -	We have two deferred cases and one new case so
1202	far for a total of three case	
1203		
1204	Mr. Emerson -	Okay. So you have three cases, Mr. Baka.
1205		
1206	Mr. Archer -	That's October 12 <sup>th</sup> ?
1207		
1208	Mr. Emerson -	Yes sir. You had two cases tonight that went to
1209	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	went to October. And then we had the other cases that
1210		busly that weren't on tonight that had gone to October.
1211	wir. Strauss keeps the sco	ore sheet, so I count on him to be able to tell us that.
1212 1213	Mr. Baka -	The earlier time is fine.
1213	IVII. Dana -	The earlier time is line.
1215	Mr. Emerson -	If the Commission is comfortable with 5:30, we'll
1216		some dinner and we'll fill you in on where we are. We'll
1217	get the documents out to you as soon as soon as we can.	
1218		
1219	Mr. Archer -	Fair enough.
1220		
1221	Mr. Witte -	That's excellent. Thank you.
1222	Ма Билана	Ma. Obsimana with that arish the collection of the
1223	Mr. Emerson - Mr. Chairman, with that said, the next item on your	
1224 1225	agenda would be the consideration of your minutes from your August 10th meeting.	
1223	meeting.	
1227	Mr. Leabough -	I don't think we have any corrections, do we? If not, I'll
1228	entertain a motion for app	
1229		
1230	Mr. Witte -	So moved.
1231		
1232	Mr. Baka -	Second.
1233	Mar Landa cont	NAZ I
1234	Mr. Leabough -	We have a motion by Mr. Witte, and a second by
1235 1236	IVII. Daka. Ali in Tavor Say	aye. Those opposed say no. That motion passes.
1236	Is there any other husines	ss for the Commission, Mr. Emerson?
1237	to there any other busines	o for the Commission, wir. Emerson:
1239	Mr. Emerson -	Mr. Chairman, I have nothing further for the
1240	Commission this evening.	
1241	Ü	

D :	1242	Mr. Leabough -	All right. I'll entertain a motion for adjournment.
-	1243	Mr. Archer -	I mayo for adjournment
	1244 1245	MI. AICHEL -	I move for adjournment.
	1246	Mr. Baka -	I second.
	1247		
	1248 1249	Mr. Leabough -	We're adjourned.
	1250	Mr. Emerson -	Your rules and regs call for a motion and a second, so
	1251	thank you.	
	1252		
	1253 1254		5
	1255		
	1256		M. F.: O.L. I. O.D.O. Ol.:
	1257 1258		Mr. Eric S. Leabough, C.P.C., Chairperson
	1259		
	1260		
	1261		KFS/
	1262 1263		
	1264	K	Mr. R. Joseph Emerson, Jr., Secretary